"Grace and peace be multiplied to you..." (2 Peter 1:2 NKJV)



NIYI MAKINDE

NIYI MAKINDE Grace Factor



NIYI MAKINDE

First published by Power Publishing House 2021

Copyright © 2021 by Niyi Makinde

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, or otherwise without written permission from the publisher. It is illegal to copy this book, post it to a website, or distribute it by any other means without permission.

First edition

Cover art by Kenny Otesile

This book was professionally typeset on Reedsy. Find out more at reedsy.com

Contents

1	The Grace of Our Lord Jesus Christ	1
2	The Definition of Grace	9
3	Grace Coordinates	23
4	The Way to Grace	32
5	All Grace	39
6	Coordinates of Grace and	
	Hard Work	52
7	Dynamics of Grace	64
8	The Coordinates of Grace and Energy	70
9	Parameters of Grace	77
About the Author		91
Also by Niyi Makinde		93

The Grace of Our Lord Jesus Christ

2 Corinthians. 13:14 says,

"The grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Spirit, be with you all. Amen"

I want you to know that there is grace known as the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ. Grace is a broad subject. When we talk about grace, it is more about the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ. But I want you to know that grace is multidimensional. Prior to the time Jesus brought grace, certain men already obtained grace in the sight of God and the grace they received was not the grace of our Lord Jesus.

Genesis 6:8 says

"But Noah found grace in the eyes of the Lord."

Do you see that? Noah found grace. It was not the grace of our Lord Jesus that Noah found because as at then, Jesus hadn't yet come into the world. The fact that must be establish is that the grace Noah found wasn't the grace that Jesus brought. A preacher once said grace is grace, and grace is one. That is not true. That person needs to understand that the subject of grace is very broad and cannot be unraveled aside the scripture.

John 1:17 says

"For the law was given by Moses, but grace and truth came by Jesus Christ."

What John was trying to do is to distinguish what Moses brought from what Jesus brought. Moses brought the law to the Israelites while Jesus brought grace to the world. Moses brought the law to the people but Moses himself also found grace in the sight of the Lord. Moses found grace in the sight of our Lord and the grace he found was not the grace of our Lord Jesus. Before Jesus brought grace some men already found grace. Can you see that Moses received grace for his life but received the law for the people he led? It is amazing to discover that Moses lived by grace while he made the people lived by the law. Exodus 33:17 says "So the Lord said to Moses, 'I will also do this thing that you have spoken; for you have found grace in My sight, and I know you by name." God Himself said Moses found grace in His sight.

Evidently, it was grace factor that singled out Noah and those with him in the ark out of destruction from the first world. It was grace that kept Moses alive from death when other boys were killed in Egypt at his birth time. Grace will always single out of destruction just as it did for many saints across various dispensation in the Bible. But the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ is unique because it doesn't just save men out of destruction in this world, but also out of eternal destruction. The grace we found through Jesus Christ is totally different from the grace patriarchs and matriarchs in Old Testament found.

Ephesians 2:8-9 says

"For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves; it is the gift of God."

What the writer was simply trying to communicate was that by the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ you have been saved. The understanding of that will make us know that there is grace that saves; the grace of Jesus is the grace that brought reconciliation between man and God. There are some people who access grace in the scriptures but the grace was not for salvation.

The definition of grace as unmerited favor is partially correct; it's a definition from theologians. Grace can be merited and be unmerited. There are some graces you cannot have until you merit it. You don't merit the grace for salvation, it was your faith that grant you access to it.

Genesis 6:8 says

"But Noah found grace in the eyes of the LORD"

This clearly shows that Noah found grace. The grace that Noah found is the grace that also saved those with him in the ark from destruction other men outside the ark faced. Noah merited that grace not through his works of righteousness but through his belief in the living God. The reason others couldn't find grace in the days of Noah was because they didn't believe God and receive the message of Noah. It is essential to note that Noah was even a drunkard before He found grace.

Gen 6:9 says

"These are the generations of Noah; Noah was a just man and perfect in his generations, and Noah walked with God."

Others couldn't find grace in the sight of God but Noah found it. The reason why others couldn't find such grace is because God didn't see them as a just man. There was a righteousness God saw in Noah. I wrote about three kinds of righteousness in my book titled "Multiply."

1. Legal righteousness: It has to do with action of rightness.

2. Policy righteousness: This deals with the justice system of God and men.

3. Assigned righteousness: This is bestowed on a person on account of what someone else has done. This is why believers are called righteous.

In the days of Noah, Noah had a right standing with God. It was the righteousness of Noah that brought grace to him. The word just means righteous.

2 Peter 2:4-5 says

"For if God Spared not the angels that sinned, but cast them down to hell, and delivered them into chains of darkness, to be reserved unto judgment; And Spared not the old world, but saved Noah the eighth person, a preacher of righteousness, bringing in the flood upon the world of the ungodly"

Peter called Noah the preacher of righteousness. How can you be a preacher of righteousness if you are not righteous? In the days of Noah, he didn't preach the gospel, he preached righteousness. Noah didn't have a Bible but he preached righteousness for one hundred and twenty years. The message of righteousness is simply to turn back to God and live right. For one hundred and twenty years, Noah told the people to turn back to God and live right.

The Multidimensional Grace

James 4:6 says

"But He gives more grace. Therefore, He says; God resists the proud, but gives grace to the humble."

Grace is more than one. You don't need to humble yourself to receive the grace Jesus brought, you only

need to believe and confess the Lordship of Jesus. The grace that brought salvation is accessed through faith, but the grace that brings lifting to a man in life is accessed through humility.

James wrote to believers not unbelievers. And he clearly told them that God gives more grace. Can you read it for yourself that James wrote that God gives more grace? Many believers and preachers need to understand what is referred to as more grace. You don't need more grace for salvation. The grace that brought salvation is accessed once for all. But the grace that is meant for lifting every season of your life will come when you have been proven humble.

David understood the power of grace. In fact, he taught his children, especially Solomon about grace. Proverbs 3:34 says "Surely He scorns the scornful, but gives grace to the humble." I hope you realize that the books of Proverbs chapters one to eight were teachings of David to Solomon. David understood that you cannot access grace when you are not humble. In other words, there was a grace David understood that a man can access by humility. That grace doesn't bring salvation from eternal damnation but brings lifting to your life. Evidently, it's not Jesus that brought this grace that the humble receives because before He came into the world, men had received it.

Which Grace Can Be Multiplied?

2 Peter 1:2 says

"Grace and Peace be multiplied unto you through the knowledge of God and of Jesus Our Lord."

Grace can multiply. To multiply is to increase. When the Bible says grace and peace be multiplied unto you, it simply means that grace and peace will come into fullness in your life. It is the knowledge of God and Jesus our Lord that multiply grace and peace. When you know more about God, you will access more of His grace. To know more is to have more. Those who know more about Jesus are the ones that come into the fullness of His grace.

When grace is multiplied to you, you will understand more of what God and Jesus Christ have accomplished for your sake. You cannot command the exploit Jesus commanded on earth when you don't understand who He is and what He has accomplished for you. The moment you understand the potency of Jesus' authority; you will exercise His authority.

The grace that will be multiplied unto you is not grace for salvation but an ability of God in your human spirit. Grace that brought salvation doesn't increase. It is accessed once and possessed in fullness. It is the ability of God in your human spirit that can multiply and the way it will multiply is by knowing God and Jesus Christ.

The day you know what God knows, you can do what God does. Same with Jesus Christ. The day you know what Jesus Christ knows, you will do what He can do. The way you increase in the ability of God in you is by increasing the knowledge of God in you. To have the knowledge of God is to know what God knows about Himself, about power, about the future and so on. If you can know what God knows, you will be able to do what God does. In this kingdom, it is by knowing that we increase what we can do. The ability to do things in this kingdom is simply what is referred to as grace. Your grace is what you have the ability to do.

The Definition of Grace

I n my walk with God, I discovered that there are certain things that should be given broader definition and clarity. In fact, I have discovered that there are some things that cannot be defined mentally or logically. The fact is that lexicographical knowledge may not be able to give accurate description to it.

Theologians have given a general definition to grace. When you ask a believer what grace is, there is the quick response that grace is unmerited favor. Well, that is correct but not complete. Grace is more than that. It takes revelation to capture grace. Let's check grace from fifteen broader perspectives. 1. Grace Is Unmerited Favor and Merited Favor

This is the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ. The grace you received through Christ Jesus is unmerited. It can be said that the grace you received from God is merited. But much more, you need to understand that there are certain abilities of God that are referred to as grace. There are certain grace God cannot release on you when your humility and character hasn't been proven. The grace that is given because of your humility under the mighty hand of God is a merited one. There is need to understand that there is a difference between the grace that is merited from that which is unmerited.

2. Grace Is Unconditional Favor and Conditional Favor

Grace is conditional and unconditional. The grace of our Lord Jesus Christ is unconditional, the grace that comes by humility is conditional. If you are not humble, you cannot receive it. The one that come through service, calling, you can't receive it until you meet the condition. People manifest certain graces because they have merited certain conditions. And when you see people struggling, it is because they have despised a condition. For example, how can you have the grace for lifting if you are not humble? How can you have the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, if you don't believe and confess the Lordship of Jesus?

3. Grace Is God's Enabling Power

You can copy anybody in life but you can't copy the grace on a person and if you try it, you will be frustrated. I remember in the year 2017 when I was in Port Harcourt, I saw what a man of God was doing, then, I attempted to take action to do the same, to be sincere, all my effort was futile. Don't mind preachers who say there is nothing a minister of God does that a believer cannot do. That is not true. For example, until certain time, I couldn't do somethings because there was no grace for it. It's only what's in you that can be imparted. I know there are still some grace that I need to pursued and have. God knows that when He gives you a certain grace, you won't wait for Him before you step into action. God will prove you well before He gives grace to you. God releases grace on people. You've got to be careful of preachers who will tell you that grace is not applicable to your business, career and field, don't mind them, that's not true.

There are things we do by wisdom and some we do by grace. If there's something you are struggling

to make happen, it's because you lack the grace. You may have the wisdom and still not see the results but when grace comes, you will achieve it easily and speedily. Does that mean I am despising wisdom? No, but we didn't get saved by wisdom. We must be able to combine wisdom with Grace, I love people who cherish wisdom and wisdom will teach you to go for grace, that's why you must not joke with wisdom in your life.

4. Grace Is God's Extravagant Blessings

The word "extravagant" suggest something that is not minimized but something lavished. Too much ability in your human spirit suggest that grace is lavished on you.

5. Grace Is the Ability to Bear or Carry Revelation

Do you realize that there is a grace you access by revelation? Accessing certain revelation grants you access to grace. Having something revealed to you will cause you to have some grace. Some people might talk about the gift of the spirit while some work in it. You can't work in it at will if you don't have the revelation that powers it. Those who have the revelation can work in it anyhow. As you are now, there is something you can operate in your life at ease because of the grace you carry.

There are some revelations you can't receive until you have some graces. There are some revelations you cannot have because you don't have certain ability. You will understand the reason you can listen to a particular message understandably and somebody close to you doesn't understand. For example, one time I went to a particular campus in a city, while I was there, some people were with me. I share some things with some people were with they understood so well. At that meeting, there was a young man who didn't understand the things I shared. But this young man was a popular pastor on that campus. What basically happened was that he didn't have the ability to carry that revelation.

There are some messages you will listen to and you won't understand until you have certain grace. Let me share a story, when I was at the university, there were certain ministers we didn't listen to because we feel they didn't have revelation. The reason we didn't understand the message of those ministers was because we had parents who were sending money to us, so, we didn't understand the realities of life. Those messages were boring to us when on campus. At a time I was passing through certain issues of life and I listened to one of those messages that seemed boring, I caught the revelation of the next thing I needed to do. It was then I knew that until your capacity enlarged, you may not understand some revelations.

Let me give another example, I heard this from a minister, there was a time Kenneth Copeland came to Winner's Chapel Canaan land, from the first to fourth service, fifty thousand people gathered and Kenneth Copeland asked David Oyedepo how did you do it? Bishop Oyedepo replied, it's faith, then Kenneth Copeland said, how come they didn't have such in their country? Then, Bishop Oyedepo said, I danced them in. Can that be traced in scripture? It takes depth of insight to see that response from the scripture. That's why you need certain grace to comprehend certain revelation. The ability to understand certain revelation is also a grace.

One time, I preached a particular message somewhere and after I preached it I was told one young man went and preached against it. The reason he could do such is because there is no ability to contain that revelation. You must trust God to furnish in you the capacity to understand certain revelation before you attend spiritual gatherings.

6. Grace Is an Unforced Rhythm in Your Life

Rhythm is following beat. There is something called unforced rhythm and that's grace. The grace that makes things happen in your life without being forced. The reason people struggle is because the unforced rhythm is not there. If you have been procrastinating somethings, what you lack is unforced rhythm which is grace. If you have the unforced rhythm, things will happen in your life.

The grace of our Lord Jesus cannot be imparted but the grace that is unforced rhythm can be imparted. You can tap into it and the way you tap into it is that you sow seed. When you sow seed into certain grace, in the time of harvest, what you harvest is the same grace you have sowed seed into. You don't disperse impartation. Grace can be imparted. The grace that is unforced rhythm is not just a grace to minister but the grace that create rhythm in the life of the believer. This grace causes you to produce certain results in your life without forcing it.

Grace causes you to achieve more than you have planned or thought. There is something God has that can force things to happen in your life. There is a grace dimension that forces opportunity to come your way. There is a grace dimension that forces prosperity to come your way. The way God forces it to happen is that He puts on your life the force that will cause those things to happen. When you attend a meeting and it is time for impartation, you have to be sensitive. The grace that has unforced rhythm in your life has to do with association and connectivity. The fact that you have the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ doesn't mean things will happen in your life naturally. There are certain decisions you can't make until you have certain graces. When this grace comes upon your life, it makes you forget about the barriers, it's about what's on you.

What's on you will control everything around you. There is anointing and grace. No unbeliever can receive the anointing and grace of our Lord Jesus Christ but the unforced rhythm, God can give it to anybody even unbeliever. The grace that is unforced can come through impartation. God can give it, you can seek it through fasting and prayer, sowing seeds, it can come by association and connectivity. This dimension of grace has to do with connectivity and anointing deals with environment. There was a time Saul sent soldiers to arrest David and when they came to the place Samuel was, those military officers prophesied. This people were not prophets or priests. The reason the anointing came on them like that was because they were in an environment dominated and controlled by that anointing.

David was not born prophet but became prophet through contact with Samuel. Anointing is environ-

mental. You will notice you visit some people, then all of a sudden, you became like them in a way. All environments are not the same, some are polluted. Saul sent other men they prophesied, then Saul went himself, he prophesied naked from morning till night. The anointing upon Samuel is what can control things in the nation.

Grace is not environmental but with a person, you can contact a grace. If you want to contact the grace that is unforce, don't be a lone ranger, connect with someone who carries the grace and in a matter of time, the grace will rub on you.

When you have the unforced rhythm which is grace, it creates certain things to happen in your life effortlessly. When there is a rhythm in the life of an individual, there is no disruption. When there is rhythm, there will be grace. If you are such that your success is not consistent, it's that there is grace deficiency. The grace that makes things happen in your life easily can be imparted; it's also the type of grace you sow into. The grace you are been asked to sow into is not the grace of our Lord Jesus but a rhythm grace. There are some graces that have accomplished things, the best thing you do is to sow into that grace. What you are doing is just an expression of grace. There is always a harvest period when you sow seed. Every farmer understands that they will harvest the seed of what they planted. You don't plant orange and reap mango. When you sow in a season, there will be another season where you will reap. What you will harvest is the manifestation of that grace you have sowed into. I can see certain things happening in my life that are related to certain seeds. Anytime you attend a program and you hear the preacher ask you to sow seed, the one that is not manipulation, make sure you do because the grace you are sowing into is the unforced rhythm. Young people may not really understand this but the elderly people will. What's simply happening in the life of some people isn't because they are great thinkers, but certain graces are at work in their life. When you see people that pray consistently, there is a dimension of prayer that comes with grace not because they are discipline but for grace. If there is anything you are trusting God for and it seems it is not forth coming what you need is the unforced rhythm of grace. Grace can make things happen for you.

7. Grace Is a Force that Makes You a Force

Grace is actually a force and the purpose is to make you a force. When you become a force, you will realize that things happen in your life not naturally but in a way that everyone knows that what you are doing has a power backup somewhere that can't be traced into a logical thing. The grace is to make you a force so that things that are stronger than you can subdued.

Anything you are struggling to accomplish now is a force. Anything you could not do before now is a force. You need a force that will come upon you that will enable you to do them. Anytime you want to do something and there are financial constraints to do them what you need is not more money but more grace.

8. Grace Is God's Ability in the Human Spirit

When you suddenly have certain ability to do certain things then grace has come to you. Power is also ability. What then is the difference between grace and power? The insight is simple. Power as the ability of the Spirit of God in your human spirit can only be at work when the Spirit of God is active in your life. Grace on the other hand is the ability of God that is at work in your life because there is an active knowledge. There is an ability of God that can only be at work in your life because of an existing knowledge within you. Such knowledge often revealed makes you perform exceptionally by the supernatural hand of God what is not natural to human abilities. 9. Grace Is God's Freshness in the Human Spirit

When God breathe on you, grace is released to you. It is the grace that translate into the freshness of the Spirit in the human spirit. Men of grace don't look weak; they look strong because the grace within them will continue to supply freshness to them.

10. Grace Is God's Prosperous Treasure in Your Human Spirit

Grace is God's prosperity. Anyone with grace has received God's prosperity. It is so amazing to know that one of the ways God gives prosperity to people is by releasing grace on them. The grace on you will cause all you do to prosper.

11. Grace Is God's Endorsement on Your Life

When you receive grace, you receive endorsement from God. The reason two people can do things and one have divine backing and one does not is that one has endorsement and the others doesn't.

When there is endorsement on your life, it will be too obvious you have divine backing, when there is an endorsement on your life, you don't struggle to make things happen. You receive endorsement by receiving grace. When God endorse you, every human being that you come across in life will always approve you.

When God endorse you, grace is added to your life. When you have this endorsement in your life, you can do things without God's approval. When this kind of grace is added into your life, what other people take permission to do, you will just jump into it and do them.

There are some matters you must not handle until God's give you permission to step into it. When the grace is there, you have the endorsement to do it.

12. Grace Is Divine Magnet on Your Life

There is a grace that does attract rich people into your life, countries to you, draw money to you anytime, it's a magnet. I know of a particular moment in my life that I struggle to get money but not anymore. This grace can magnetize help into your life.

Nothing is too far from God, if you have this grace, nothing will be too far from you.

13. Grace Is Divine Signature on Your Life

When you have this grace, people can't see it but it can talk to people. When a man gives a cheque to someone and the person gets to bank to make withdrawal, the person don't have to talk with mouth, the signature will instruct the cashier without the presence of the person who signed it.

14. Grace Is Divine Permission for Earthly Assignment

When God puts grace on your life, He has granted you divine permission to carry out a task or assignment. When you lack grace, it therefore means you lack divine permission for earthly assignment. It is futility to attempt to carry out what you don't have grace to carry out.

15. Grace Is God's Assistance Bestowed on You

The grace of God is the assistance of God. To be graced is to be assisted by God. When God decides to assist you, He will give you what He has – His grace. Grace on you will make you to do what God alone can do. If you already have God's grace, you have received God's assistance.

Grace Coordinates

T here are the coordinates of grace. In other words, there are elements that go alongside grace which have to be clearly explained.

The Coordinate of Grace and Honor

Grace comes from God; honor also comes from God. Your honor or dishonor can affect your grace. It is one thing to have grace, it's another thing to be able to use that grace Whatever grace you have should work for you and people connected to you. When men decide that they don't need your grace, you have been brought low. Whatever grace you carry must be needed. Your grace is designed to work for you and be a blessing to others. It's through honor that you place demand on the grace others. The grace of others will be open to do certain things for you freely if you decide to honor that Grace.

Honor triggers the grace of a person to tell you things. When you access the knowledge or wisdom of a person, you have accessed the grace of that person. That's why there is a dimension of wisdom that comes through listening and laying on of hands. The Bible says, Joshua was full of wisdom because Moses had laid hands on him. Honor triggers the grace of a person to talk to you in the way you will understand.

Someone can tell two people the same thing and one of the two won't understand. It's not that such didn't understand, but the grace of that person didn't talk to that person the way such will understand. Honor will make men do for you what they don't do for others. Honor will make men tell you what they don't tell others. When you honor people, their grace will talk to you the way it has not talked to others. Honor will make men recommend you, Honor will grant you the privacy of men. If you have access to the privacy of a person.

I learned this from Mike Murdock that if you want to access someone but can't, you should identify people who are closer to that person and honor them. Those closer to whoever you want to connect with will bring you closer to the person. Honor will make men do for you what they don't do for others. Honor will make men tell you what they don't tell others. Honor will make men recommend you for positions you are not qualified for.

Honor will make men put you on platforms your experience, exposure and level shouldn't access. Honor will grant you access to the privacy of men.

Honor will make men to permit you to walk side by side them. Honor will make men defend you and fight for you behind you. Honor will make the honorable to do things, say things that will make men to honor you. Honor will make men give you the task they should do. Honor will make men send you to represent them. Honor will make you to be called to certain meetings. Uncommon men share uncommon meetings. Honor will make men fight your battles with you.

Honor will open doors to your grace. Dishonor will close doors to your grace. I grew up in a circle of dishonor. Those people know things but they are not known. The ways they speak have closed doors to them. Don't mind people when they say that it doesn't matter to be known by men as long as God knows you. If you can discern well, you will spot envy in their heart. Check everyone who seem to dishonor others but still make progress and advance, you will discover that they some people he or she honors in secret. There are people you must honor in secret regularly. Secret honor brings public recognition and recommendation. It is foolishness that makes people talk in a dishonorable manner in places. Dishonor will make you say you don't fear anybody but God. God will later remind you that He has told you in scriptures to fear some men.

Romans 13:7 reveal that you should render fear to whom fear, honor to whom honor. Dishonor will hinder your light from shining. You are the light and have the light. Some people are the doors and keys. Some people are not the doors but can open the doors.

When you dishonor those who have access to multiple doors, you can't shine. And if you shine, you can't shine beyond your city, workplace and field. One dishonor can close the door you opened through forty days of fasting and prayers. Honor can open a door that takes another person twenty-one days of fasting to open to you. Honor will influence the heart of men for your sake. The heart of those who love you will hate you the moment they spot dishonor in you.

Dishonor can break the support structure in your life. Your support structure are your workers, mentors, lifters, friends, etc. Dishonor will raise many enemies for you. Your success can create your enemies; dishonor can also create your enemies. When you dishonor those who are ahead of you, they will hate you. Who honors you may not matter, but who you honor matters much. Those who honor you may not be instrumental to your advance, but those you honor really matter. God may use someone who hate your success to help you, but will never use anyone you dishonor.

Dishonor is an odor. Whoever has it stinks. You may be successful but not elevated. Hard work may earn you the success, honor will elevate you. Hard work is what you do, honor is what you give. If you don't give honor to who deserve it, who deserves it won't give you what you deserve. You may be doing fine in life and succeeding, if you don't honor men, you will end at the back. Ensure your words are filled with honor, your actions are filled with honor so you don't have to go through another season of your life. The way pain is created is that right people exit your life. You have to identify who deserve more honor. You cannot remain great if you lack honor.

How You Can Show Honor to the Graces of Others

1. Through your words. Ensure you praise them for who they are or what they have done. It won't reduce you, it only shows you are an honorable person. You should tell it in their presence or tell the world. You are actually pulling that grace to regularly flow to your direction. Even in our relationship with God, he wants us to tell the world. When it comes to relationship with people, never say you don't fear anybody. It is foolishness that will prompt you to say you will say your mind anyhow and anywhere to anybody. You should learn to be gracious and quiet.

- 2. Celebrate them on their birthdays. Birthday are special days to people. To celebrate a person on his or her birthday really means a lot to the person. Those who celebrate you on your birthday are those who show honor to you. This kind will always trigger the grace on a person towards your direction.
- 3. Through your giving to them. When you give to people, you are actually putting yourself in their consciousness. Your gifts create a recognition awareness to the grace of people.

Imparting Grace

There are two hemispheres to be considered.

1. All believers can impart grace. This has not been emphasized in the body of Christ.

2. **Apostles and prophets can impart grace.** If you are a believer and you want to be full of grace, ensure you listen to the voice God has assigned to speak into your life regularly. It's like having a tap water; you can always access the tap every time. Once you identify that, ensure you know how to turn on the tap regularly. Ensure you listen to the voice God has placed over your life.

The God we serve is rich in mercy, glory and grace. The riches of God are not material things. Once you know the grace of God in excess, you will be able to grow in grace.

Colossians 3:16 says

"Let the word of Christ dwell in you richly in all wisdom; teaching; and admonishing one another in psalms and hymns and spiritual songs, singing with grace in your hearts to the Lord"

What the Bible is saying is that you should sing with thanksgiving in your heart. The word "grace" in Colossians 3:16 means 'thanksgiving.' All believers should be thankful to God.

Ephesians 4:29

"Let no corrupt communication proceed out of your mouth, but that which is good to the use of edifying, that it may minister grace unto the hearers."

Paul wrote to seven churches and that's a signification of perfection, Jesus also spoke to apostle John about seven churches. This shows believers can impart grace to their hearer. Corrupt words are foul words. Corrupt words shouldn't be found in your mouth because what you would be speaking is corruption and such can't impart grace. The way a believer Impart grace is by speaking. I once found myself in an environment where corrupt words were spoken. It wasn't long before I came under the influence of that environment and I began to crack jokes with foul words. The words of other people can influence your speech. The power of association matters. You should avoid speaking slangs. Speaking slangs won't make you a sinner neither will it pollute you, but it makes you impart corruption. If grace will flow out of your mouth, you should fill your heart with the right words. In fact, the easiest way to fill your heart with right words is by filling your heart with scriptures.

Believers should avoid speaking corrupt words for such doesn't impart grace. When you find some believers who curse easily, they are believers who have not been trained. Your words must impart grace. When a sorrowful person listened to you, the person must be filled with joy.

Psalm 45:2 says

"Thou art fairer that the children of men: grace is poured into thy lips: therefore, God hath blessed thee forever."

Grace is poured on your lips. One of the graces you are blessed with is the grace He poured on your lips. If the words you say cannot build faith in men, then you are not blessed. When I hear the words you speak, I can discern if you are blessed to be a blessing. You should discipline yourself not to speak certain words. You should be discreet with the words you speak for your words is the transmitters of grace.

Romans 12:3 says

"For I say, through the grace given unto me, to every man that is among you, not to think of himself more highly than he ought to think; but to think soberly, according as God hath dealt to every man the measure of faith"

The way Paul express his grace is that he said something to people through his writing. Your grace should express something, and grace is express by speaking something.

The Way to Grace

 ${
m F}$ aith can grant you access to grace just as humility can also grant you access to grace.

Proverbs 3:34 says

"Surely he scorneth the scorners; but he giveth grace unto the lowly."

There are five ways which a man can be humble before the Lord. In your life, be an individual that's highly humble. You might have the grace for salvation but not have the grace that brings about lifting.

1. Prayers

Praying shows you humble yourself before the Lord. That's principally essential for anyone trusting God for something to happen in their life. It takes humility to go before the Lord in prayer. You can't receive a grace from the Lord and you won't be lifted.

2chronicles 7:14 says

"If my people, which are called by name, shall humble themselves, and pray, and seek my face, and turn from their wicked ways; then will I hear from heaven, and will forgive their sin, and will hear their land."

Praying is a way that shows you humble yourself.

2. Fasting

Fasting is a way to display humility

Psalms 35:13 says

"But as for me, when they were sick, my clothing was sackcloth: I humbled my soul with fasting; and my prayer returned into mine own bosom"

Every time you see people fasting, God will say such is humble.

Ezra 8:21 says

"Then I proclaimed a fast there, at the river of Ahava, that we might afflict ourselves before our God, to seek of him a right way for us, and for our little ones, and for all our substance"

A person with grace will always rise above in life.

You may lose everything in life, don't lose faith in God. Nothing is far from you, what is far from you is grace. Grace will always draw whatever is far from you towards you. Fasting positions you for the lifting you desire in the sight of God.

3. Obedience

Obedience is a show of your humility. When you are sensitive God, He will give you certain instructions. Your sensitivity to that instruction will facilitate the speedy fulfilment of His promises to you. When you want God to do something for you, you must be ready to do what He will tell you to do. Your obedience will make the Lord do for you what you cannot do for yourself.

There is a grace that can come on people because of their obedience. I went on three days fasting like ten years ago, I determine to end the fast at 12pm, then I did that for the two days, then on the last day I wanted to eat at 12pm, but the Spirit of the Lord said I shouldn't eat till 3pm. At some minutes to 3pm, God said I should wait till 6pm and I did. It was that day I broke into the manifestation of the gifts of the Spirit. The grace came because I obeyed not because I fasted. When you see someone who obey God's instruction, that person will have the manifestation of certain graces as reward for his or her obedience.

4. Right Thinking

Men look at the face but God sees the heart. You must be very careful for God not to see you as a proud person. Anyone who has wrong thought in his heart and God sees such, God will conclude that such is proud. I have been in situations that I was filled with wrong thoughts about people, places, plans, etc. Those thoughts are seed of pride and when you dwell much on it, you will think highly more than you should think.

Anyone who exalt himself in his heart is already falling on earth unknowingly. Such was the case Lucifer. It's needed to know that if God looks down from heaven and sees that you don't have negative thoughts and you don't exalt yourself in your heart, you don't see yourself as one more important than others, then, you are ready to receive grace that will cause you to go higher. You don't expect exaltation in life without grace, but what qualifies you is your heart. Remember, God can see your heart regularly and control your thought. A Christian should be able to live a controlled thought life. You may not be able to control the thoughts that come into your heart, but you can control what your mind think about. Wherever you see the thought of selfimportance, pride has set in automatically. When grace is bestowed on you, you have more access to more resources. You can't have grace and not be lifted.

5. Gratitude

Gratitude to God is a way of humility, when God sees you are very grateful to Him, He will bestow grace on you. Grateful people are gracefull people. You can't be grateful to Him and not receive more grace from Him. Every time you thank God for what He has done for you, you are telling Him to do more for Him and that when He do more for you, you will praise Him more.

Grace Networks

Here is the illustration I will give you. Imagine the telecommunication network companies in Nigeria. We have MTN, Airtel, Globacom, 9Mobile, etc. All are for communication but are run by different companies. They don't offer the same service, so also it is with grace. Just like we have different network of telecommunication companies, so we have different networks of grace.

There Are Differences of Grace

People don't carry the same grace. You will know the grace people carry through the knowledge they have, words they speak and the result they produce. There are results that are produced by efforts, but much more there are results produced by grace. There Are Influences of Grace

There was a time I traveled to a place and I was told MTN network don't work well there but Globacom is highly effective. If you understand what I said, then you will know why some grace are influential in some certain place. There are certain graces that can be influential throughout a region, state, country or continent. The grace of some people is transcontinental; the influence of your grace can increase.

There Are Confluences of Grace

This is when graces come together; this is when we combine graces together to make something happen. When people with different graces gather together, each will be able to supply the part that the other lack.

In Rebirth Global, we have an annual gathering of people, *Connect*, every January. *Connect* is a confluence. What we have annually is a network of Grace. Every believer has a grace. Anywhere you see confluence among men, it's actually the combination of influences. When influences come together, it actually brings about confluence. This kind is not common in the body of Christ, what you see is diversity but God is breaking that. I believe that ministers of God should be intentional to form confluences through certain meetings. When we form confluences, we will not lack any grace because what one lack, another will supply.

All Grace

A ccording to the root meaning of grace, grace is not just unmerited favor; it was theologians that gave that concept.

Noah didn't preach the gospel but righteousness, that's why Peter called him the preacher of righteousness and the message only saved eight people and animals. Noah found grace but it is needed to know that he merited it because he didn't join the corruption of his days.

The message of grace is a broad subject

2 Corinthians 9:8 says

"And God is able to make all Grace abound toward you; that ye, always having all suffiency in all things, may abound to every good works"

There are certain words that need to be connected together – ALL GRACE, ALL SUFFIENCY, ALL THINGS. You should understand that there can be all sufficiency for you if you enter the dimension of grace. The focus is that there is a God who is able to make all grace abound toward you. If the scriptures talk about all grace, that means grace is not one. There is a grace of Jesus but there were lots who already found grace in the Old Testament.

1 Peter 4:10 says

"As every man hath received the gift, even so minister the same one to another, as good stewards of the manifold grace of God"

The word "manifold" simply means many. The Bible says we should be steward of many grace of God. No man can see the end of everything. There is more to the subject of grace. Let's explore the dimension of all grace.

We will check six graces:

1. The Grace You Access by Faith

That's known as the grace for salvation, the grace Jesus brought. It's the grace that brought salvation to us.

1 Peter 1:10 says

"Of which salvation the prophets have enquired and searched diligently, who prophesied of the grace that should come unto you:"

In the Old Testament, there were men who received grace in the sight of God and the prophet in their days prophesied about the grace that will come in the future, there is a kind of grace Moses, Noah, obtained. The prophets prophesied the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ but they never experienced it. You don't merit this kind of grace.

Titus 2:11 says

"For the grace of God that brings salvation has appeared unto all men."

The grace that Noah received was a grace that appears unto Noah alone but this kind of grace we access by faith is the kind that appeared to all men. There was a grace Moses found in the sight of the Lord which is meant for him alone.

The grace for salvation didn't come to existence until Jesus died and resurrected. The grace we all have today is not by our own work.

Ephesians 2:8-9 says

"For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves; it is the gift of God; Not of works, lest any man should boast"

You access this kind of grace by faith.

Romans 5:2

"By whom also we have access by faith into this grace wherein we stand, and rejoice in hope of the glory of God"

There is a grace for salvation the way you access it is by your faith in Christ Jesus.

2. The Grace You Access by Humility

There is a grace you don't access by faith but by humility.

James 4:6 says

"But he giveth more grace. Wherefore he saith, God resisteth the proud, but giveth grace unto the humble"

What is the grace we access by humility?

1 Peter 5:5 says

"Likewise, ye younger, submit yourselves unto the elder. Yea, all of you e subject one another, and be clothed with humility; for God resisteth the proud, and giveth grace to the humble."

There is a grace for lifting, the first grace we access is grace for salvation, but there is a grace that has been in existence and it comes by humility.

When God sees you as a humble person, he puts a grace in your life and that grace brings about lifting in life. You have new abilities. There is a grace that is not for salvation, it is for influence. God gives that kind of grace because you are humble in heart and the results of that grace is lifting.

3. The Grace You Access through Kingdom Service

This is the ability of the Spirit that grants effective performance. It is through this grace you are able to perform kingdom assignment effectively. All those who are involved in kingdom activity are servants. There is a grace we received that qualifies us for sonship – that is the grace we received by faith. But much more, there is a grace we receive when we give ourselves to service. This is the grace bestowed not on sons but God's servants.

Romans 12:6 says

"Having then gifts differing according to the grace that is given to us, let us use them..."

In other words, there is grace given to each of us. The difference of our grace determines the differences of our gifts. Paul admonished that we should use our gifts of grace. We use it in service. Service to humanity is different from service in the kingdom. When we give ourselves to kingdom service, we are not using our grace to serve humanity but God. God is the ultimate focus in kingdom service.

2 Corinthians 8:1 says

"Moreover, brethren, we make known to you the grace of God bestowed on the churches of Macedonia."

Here is Paul talking to another church about a special grace bestowed upon another church. In other words, just as graces can be on individuals, grace can also be on local assembly or a congregation. The grace on the churches of Macedonia was for service. They were expected by God to be generous towards God's servant and God's work. So, God release a special grace on them to be able to carry out the assignment.

All pastors need to understand that if you want the church you lead to be effective in an area of kingdom service like evangelism, giving, leadership, knowledge, love, you will have to pray the grace for this into the lives of the congregation. You must not stop at praying. You must take a step further to teach them. The prayer to release the grace on them release an invisible substance into their hearts. You now need to sow the seed of that grace through the word into their heart. Your members will produce the fruits of a grace if you can sow the seed of that grace into their heart through the word. If we can see the lives of your members, we can predict the seeds of the words you have sown into their heart consistently. The prayer clears the ground, the preaching and teaching sow the seeds. All pastors need to know how to pray grace into their members and how to sow the seed of a grace into their members through the word of God.

4. The Grace You Access by Revelation

There is a grace by faith in Jesus, by humility, by our service in kingdom but there is a grace we access by revelation. This kind of grace is received through the revelation you receive from the Holy Spirit or through a minister of the word.

There is a grace God will put on your life the resultant effect of it is that you grow. The grace

for growth in an area can be accessed through the revelation you see in scripture through a minister of God or the Holy Spirit directly.

When I was on campus, I know some individuals who just want to fast and pray, they don't want to read or listen to the word of God and they were not diligent to humble themselves to sit and receive the word. While there were certain individuals, who didn't do what they are doing much, but they were diligent to sit with the word and they grew fast.

Those who were diligent to receive the revelation were actually receiving grace. What happens is that the knowledge will propel them into new level of growth. You cannot outgrow being taught the word of God. When you see a man of God who is heavily anointed but isn't intentional with his growth, the growth of such will be stagnated.

Years ago, all I was doing was praying, deep within me I knew I was stuck, I was having a sweet fellowship with God but I knew I was not growing. The fact is that anyone that desire to access grace must give himself to study the word of God. The word you receive will transfer grace into your life that will activate growth in your automatically.

Act 20:32 says

"And now, brethren, I commend you to God, and to the word of his grace, which is able to build you up, and to give you an inheritance among all them which are

sanctified"

From the scripture it is clearly written that Paul was commending us to read and listen the word of his grace which is able to grow you up. When the word is released into you newly, additional growth is added to you. One time, I used to pray certain way, in fact when I want to minister those times, for one ministration, I have to be in days and fasting ahead, years ago, I remembered I want to minister in a certain place and fasted three days and God really came, but as I am now, I have a lot of ministration to attend to now. But will I have to fast and pray for all? Of course I still fast and pray. But I have learned that if I can sit with the word regularly and God keeps opening my eyes to see revelation, grace will be supplied to me in excess.

God will always open your eyes of understanding to comprehend scriptures.

2 Timothy 3:10 says

"But thou hast fully known my doctrine, manner of life, purpose, faith, longsuffering, charity, patience,"

The word "doctrine" there means teaching. The way you contact the spirit or grace upon a man or woman is that you listen to the message of that person. You will know what the person knows. The moment you know what a person know, you have entered into the grace of that person.

The book of Timothy was not written to a church

but a pastor. It's a pastoral epistle.

A believer can listen to different ministers, but a minister of God shouldn't listen to every minister. Timothy didn't listen to any other preacher than Paul. If you really want to grow in grace speedily, you should identify who God wants you to listen to regularly. You will realize there were different ministers during the days of Timothy, but he never listened to another minister, Timothy focused on Paul. There is a grace that brings growth. If you want to grow, make sure you identify the person you are connected to spiritually. You get the grace of the person when you get the revelation of that person.

5. The Grace You Access by Calling

You have to be called by God to access this kind of grace. Your calling qualifies you for this grace.

In Romans 12:3, Paul said

"For I say, through the grace given to me..." Do you realize that there is a grace that can come upon you that will give you the legal right to speak? In other words, there are people that speak through the grace given to them. Do you also notice that Paul said, "through the grace given to me" not "through the grace given to us?"

You see, there is a corporate grace but there is also individual grace. Corporate grace is about sonship while individual grace is about service. The purpose of the grace given to you is not to be a son but to be a servant. When God sees that you have the heart to serve, He will give grace to you. And the grace given to you is personal – your grace, not our grace. It is with this kind of grace that people are equipped to carry out their divine role.

I Corinthians 3:10 says

"According to the grace of God which is given unto me, as a wise masterbuilder, I have the laid the foundation and another buildeth thereon. But let every ma take heed how he buildeth thereupon"

Paul had a grace, a grace that back up is calling. When you see some ministers, some prophets, and you see them minister in different ways, the reason they do is because different graces are been given to them, not because they operate different dimension. Some prophets see visions, while some can give predictions, Joseph was a prophet but he didn't go about seeing vision for people.

1 Corinthians 15:10 says

"But by the grace of God I am what I am; and his grace which was bestowed upon me was not in vain; but I labored more abundantly than they all; yet not I, but the grace of God which was with me."

When you labor under grace, you become a genius. If Paul spoke this way, what he was saying was that he was an apostle and there are others but he labored more abundantly than they all. When others are sleeping, Paul didn't, so he didn't want to acknowledge everything to his work that's why he said according to the grace at work in him.

Galatians 2:9 says

"And when James, Cephas, and John, who seemed to be pillars, perceived the grace that was given unto me, they gave to me and Barnabas the right hands of fellowship; that we should go unto the heathen, and they unto the circumcision"

Paul said other apostles perceived the grace that had been given to him. The reason certain ministers can reach certain people is because of the grace that has been given to them. Paul's grace could minister efficiently to the Gentiles but some ministers' can't. We will know the kind of grace you carry by the people you have reached.

You can have all the revelation but there are some who can't listen to you. The grace to reach them will manifest by what you say. Recently, I was with a prophet and he dived into prophecy and he began to prophesy to me and he said you are trying to reject what God has given you, you don't have to reject it because in the world, the first part of that grace was given to six people in the world, and the faithfulness of those six people will usher in the second class of people. He mentioned when the grace came. It's a kind of grace that is governmental. You can see the grace beyond ministry, you can see it in music. If you are called by God, there is a grace that will back you up.

6. The Grace You Access by Prayers

This kind of grace is corporate in nature, when corporate grace comes on people, no one will be excluded. This dimension we are talking about bring access to something beyond ordinary grace

Act 4:31-33 says

"And when they had prayed, the place was shaken where they were assembled together, and they were all filled with the holyghost, and they spake the word of God with boldness. And the multitude of them that believed were of one heart and of one soul: neither said any of them that ought of the things which he possessed was his own; but they had all things common."

The way you cross from grace to great grace is through prayer. There are men of grace, great grace and greater grace. Grace is in measures. The Bible says great grace was upon them all. When great grace come upon us, we are able to do things together, great grace is a greater force. This kind is very real and exceptional.

Hebrews 4:16 says

"Let us therefore come boldly to the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy and find grace to help in time of need."

When we get into prayers, we find grace. The way

God helps people is through the release of grace. When grace is supplied to you, God has helped you. The purpose of grace is to be able to do whatever God can do. Grace put you in the God-class for great accomplishment. Grace on you is God's signature to do things. The moment we approach the throne of grace boldly, then we access grace to help in time of need. Do you want grace? Then, confidently ask the Lord knowing that He will supply it when you ask.

Coordinates of Grace and Hard Work

P salm 84:11 "For the Lord God is a sun and shield; the Lord will give grace and glory; no good thing will he withhold from them that walk uprightly"

It's unfortunate that there are many people with grace but their grace has not produce anything in their life. It's possible you have grace and your life does not mirror the grace you carry. I have come across certain people who appeared as those who didn't have grace on them but have accomplished great things. There are many unbelievers that have accomplished great achievements today. It isn't because they have grace, yet they command the historic. There are many people who own conglomerates today who are unbelievers, can you attribute their success to grace?

God gives grace not hard work. Whatever grace can accomplish; hard work can accomplish it. The only difference is that grace makes you accomplish things with ease but hard work makes you accomplish things with stress. There are people who are accomplishing things not because they are graced for it but they are hardworking. These people don't run normal schedule, they are extremely focused. It can be very painful to accomplish things with stress because by the time you are done accomplishing it, you may not have the health to enjoy it. Whatever is achieved through hard work may not give the glory to God. Hard work makes you a boaster, but grace won't. Everyone who goes by the path of hard work, often times have a way of trying to ridicule the effort of others. If I am told to go for any of the two, I will request to go for both. But if I am to go for one, I will go for grace.

Grace will make you accomplish things with ease and amplify your achievements. If it is hard work, you have to amplify it yourself. If you don't want to be the one talking about your achievements, you will have to come under grace. In your life, just as you desire grace, you must also desire hard work.

Grace is an ability but that ability also requires your action. There are people who are accomplishing things by hard work, yet there are people who have grace on them but are not achieving anything. The purpose of grace is not too make you idle but make you do things effortlessly. When grace is supplied, you must still be hardworking. If you combine grace with hard work, you will end up as a genius. People who accomplish things with hard work are the ones who sometimes despise prayers. It is needful to know that prayer isn't just to get things done, but to fellowship with the Lord more and more.

God give grace not hard work; hard work should come from you. We live in a generation that work smart but you need to know that everyone you see that is successful work hard. Their hard work may not be physical but mental. Mental work is also hard work. You should complement grace with hard work. If you are such that is lazy and not hardworking, grace won't work for you. When we talk about grace, we are simply referring to what can make you do things easily.

Proverbs 13:4 says

"The soul of the sluggard desireth, and hath nothing; but the soul of the diligent shall be made fat"

There are many gracious folks they have grace on their life but too lazy, they sleep too much. It's good to have time for leisure but don't permit that to waste your time. You must put your grace to work, grace comes to manifestation when you take action. We must not be lazy, we must take action, we must plan, and grace is coming to empower us.

Don't permit grace to be a waste upon your life.

1 Corinthians 15:10 says

"But by the grace of God I am what I am; and his grace which was bestowed upon me was not in vain; but I labored more abundantly than they all; yet not I, but the grace of God which was with me"

People who are accomplishing much are hardworking people, but there is something about them, when they accomplish much, they ascribe it to the grace of God upon their life. Carnal people make false boasting; you attribute all you do to the grace of God. Paul did more than the other apostles, and he ascribe all to the grace of God. I have never ascribed it to my hard work but grace and when you attribute it to God, God will say this person is humble.

Difference between Anointing and Grace

Anointing is only accessible to believers but there are certain kinds of grace accessible to those who are not believers but human. The grace for salvation, is only accessible to believers, anyone who is not a believer cannot access that grace which is only for salvation.

Anointing is given by God to a member of his fellowship to get a job done. For example, anointing is given to a minister of God, but grace is given to human being to improve the quality of human life. Grace is simply for anyone that is human but anointing is only for those who are believers.

The word "grace" is God's ability in the human Spirit. In 2 Corinthians 8:3, Paul the Apostle talk about the Macedonia believers that they gave beyond their abilities, grace will always make you do things beyond your ability successfully.

Paul mentioned different dimensions of the grace. Some people, the grace given to them is to prophesy, he said those who lead let them lead with diligence. Let us identify few aspect of graces.

Unique Graces on People

1. Grace to expand

The ability to expand. There is such grace that God can bestow on people that can make them expand.

1. Grace to Grow

There are some people when they preach to certain believers and they get saved, they can grow that believer. Some people have unique ability to grow whatever they start. It's also applicable in business, many start a company within two years and they take over the whole sector. That you have a vision to start something doesn't mean you have the grace to grow that thing. There is a grace that grows people and things. I hope you know that the five fold – apostles, prophets, evangelists, pastors and teachers – are individuals given special graces to grow people. That clearly shows there is grace that grow because it is not all believers that can grow others. There is an ability God can supply to make things to grow. You will do all kinds of things if the grace isn't there. Business people need this kind of grace. All who desire to raise people should desire the grace that grow.

1. Grace to flourish

Of all the trees created by God, it is only the palm tree that is given the ability to flourish every season. That is what happens to celebrity. They are known at a particular time and not known for another time. You need the grace to flourish so that you can remain evergreen in all seasons. When you have this grace, you will always do things that will cause you to flourish every time.

1. Grace for influence

I once had a dream where I saw a minister of God who laid hands on me and he said grace for influence

to come upon him. Prior before then, I used to think that leadership is influence. To me anyone that has leadership capacity will surely have influence. It was later my eyes were opened to Romans 12 where Paul identify the grace for leadership. In other words, there is a grace God can put on a person that will make such to be a leader to be reckoned with. That grace will make you make decisions and take actions that will grant you great influence among men. If God bestow on you the grace for leadership, you will have great influence.

1. Grace to see

When you see people who have the ideas that people don't have, this kind of grace is at work in them. This grace is visionary in nature. Those who have it will not only see the future but will also see the changes taken place in the present. This grace isn't just to see supernatural visions, but to see ahead what should be done. This grace influences the imagination of people to see mentally what those around them don't see.

1. Grace to continue

It's not about starting but been able to continue, the reason people quit easily is because there is no grace

to continue. When you lack this grace, you will start great things but won't be able to continue. With this grace, you will not get tired easily. In fact, when you have this grace, spiritual attack on you will not stop you from continuing what you started. Grace to continue covers your health. It brings your health in cooperation with you.

1. Grace to Excel

It doesn't matter if you get there late, if this grace is at work in your life you will rise easily. Whether we like it or not we all need this kind of grace, young and old need it. The grace to excel singles you out of competitions and the strivings of men. With this grace, you will always know what to do to come out on top.

1. Grace to Multiply

This is the grace that brings increase. Those with this grace will always think about multiplication regularly. If you lack this grace, you will be satisfied with doing one thing. But this grace will cause you to go out to seek how to multiply what is already on ground. God must increase you and it will come by multiplication.

- Grace to Build: This is the spiritual endowment given to engage in building structures easily. I have seen ministers of the gospel who couldn't preach great messages like some others but were able to execute projects and build big church structures. The secret to this is the grace to build. There are ministers who are often concerned with buildings. They just want to build something physical. Many church planters, evangelists and pastors belong to this category. Sometimes, prophets (not all prophets) and teachers don't have this grace. I believe that anyone that lack this grace can pray to God to receive it.
- 2. Grace to Dominate: This refers to a certain kind of ability given to a person to be in charge and in total control of a space or sphere. Those with this grace can dominate wherever they find themselves. This grace will make you do things that will make you to be a major force wherever you find yourself.
- 3. **Grace to Reach Certain Kinds of People:** There are some people that find it easy to access the rich people, while some people can easily reach the access the poor. Some ministers can easily access politicians. Some people can access drug dealers, business moguls, and so on. The point is wherever you belong or whichever

you have, should definitely work for you. There are some people who are given the grace to reach all kinds of people. When you look at some people, you will see younger people in their ministry because the grace in them is the kind that reach the youth. I have seen young ministers that reach the old, while some people have the grace to reach everyone. The vision you have will determine the type of grace you have. If you know the kind of people your vision can reach, then, you know the type of grace you have.

- 4. **Grace to Teach:** When you are able to teach, you are able to impart knowledge to people. The word "teach" suggest to shoot an arrow. The arrow that are shot are knowledge, wisdom, insight, etc. Those with this grace shoot arrows of knowledge into the mind. Some are graced to teach and impart what they teach. I had a meeting with some Kenyans and I was able to show them how the wave of the spirit can move. At that meeting, I functioned as a teacher, not a prophet.
- 5. **Grace to Pioneer:** Some have the grace to start a business, ministry or political party. Some establish a school, while some establish a hospital. When the grace comes upon you, you have the grace to pioneer something. Jesus

came and Christianity emerged, Christianity came out of a life. Christianity emerged out of the Jewish culture. Grace come on human being but anointing come on believers.

- 6. **Grace to Give:** Some just love to give they can give their life while some believers have the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ and they are still stingy. Believers don't give because they lack understanding and grace to give. If you have the understanding, the grace will enter your life.
- 7. **Grace to Overtake and Take Over:** Anyone that takes over becomes the lead for everyone to follow. If you have the grace to take over, you will do certain things effortlessly that will grant you the ability to rise ahead of those ahead of you.
- 8. Grace to Finish: You must not just start something and not finish. You must finish your course in life.
- 9. **Grace for Speed:** This is the ability given to a person to make something happen faster.
- 10. **Grace for the Miraculous:** God has a way of getting His children into the miraculous, but He gives certain measures of graces to some individuals to move the miraculous into an atmosphere.
- 11. Grace to Minister: Whether to minister in

songs or words, grace is needed. Those who speak by skills end up being eloquent speakers but those who speak by grace end up being effective ministers. There are musicians who sing by skills alone yet there are those who sing with skills and grace.

12. **Grace to Create:** There are those who have the ability to create things. They are very creative and highly intelligent.

Dynamics of Grace

- T he following should be noted about the dynamics of grace.
 - 1. Dynamics of grace suggests how grace works
 - 2. Dynamics of grace suggest how it enters into people
 - 3. Dynamics of grace suggest how people enter and locate grace.

Let's examine the dynamics of grace.

1. You should receive grace: Grace has to be received. You cannot have it if you don't receive it. It takes faith to receive grace. You cannot have the grace you don't believe that you will have. Only those who believe it are permitted to receive it. How can you receive a grace you

don't believe exists. You cannot receive the grace to excel if you don't believe that such exist. There are those who just believe that grace is one and we already have it. Yet, when you check their lives, you don't see any trace of excellence in their lives. You have to know that there is something God can give you that will cause you to become something effortlessly.

- 2. You can pray for grace: Whatever grace that's not at work in your life can be prayed for. Grace is in measures. The Bible says 'great grace was upon the apostles.' It was through prayers the apostles moved from grace to great grace. When you demand for a grace in prayers, God cannot deny you.
- 3. You can look for or seek grace: Jesus said ask and it shall be given, seek and you shall find. Noah found grace. He didn't seek for it, he were only righteous and God bestow it upon him. There are graces in people and places. If you need a certain kind of grace, then, look for people who have that grace. If you are able to find those who have the grace, you will find grace. Whatever grace you lack, look for someone who has it. You seek those who have the grace you need so you can connect to their grace. The grace of those people got expression through the knowledge they have

applied. If you can access the knowledge they have applied, then, you will access the grace they have. Any grace that God will give you isn't just in heaven, it is already here on earth. When you find people with special graces, try to study them very well. One of the way you collect grace from a person is to listen to that person very well. The secret of men isn't just in their stories, it is also in their speech. If you can listen to them, you will discover their grace.

- 4. You should serve grace: In the place of kingdom service, you are not serving the man but God and the grace the man carries. Grace is like rain, you can't be under it and not be drenched. How can you be under the rain and water will not touch you when you have no cover over you? Grace has secret. Grace has to be discovered. It's in the place of service that you receive it. You have to serve yourself into the grace of others so that their grace can rub on you. You are the next carrier of the grace you serve. Whoever God connect you to serve have a grace God want you to find. Whatever grace you serve will flow into your life. Elisha served the grace of Elijah and he eventually carried the double portion of it.
- 5. You should Follow Grace: You should follow grace. The grace you follow is making you

into something, you will eventually become a prototype of the grace you follow. To follow grace, that means you will become something. Whatever grace you follow will end up following you. God will make you a follower of a place before he makes you a leader in that place. If you follow a grace, whatever follow that grace will follow you.

- 6. You have to labor with Grace: Labor is effort, Grace is God's ability. Your grace will flourish when you add hard work to it. That's why you must add grace to your work. When that happens, your grace will be followed, you must act, take actions with your grace.
- 7. **Grace must be honored:** You have to honor grace. Grace becomes effective wherever it is honored. The grace that will work for you is a grace that you honor. When it come to a matter of grace, it's not about the vessel but about what the vessels carry. When you honor grace, insight comes upon you. What a person carries may be a grace to that person but not to you. When relating with a person, it's not about individual; it's about grace he carries. When you honor the grace upon people, you have honored what they carried. When relating upward with someone who have more grace than you, you have to show great honor for

the virtue of that grace to flow to you. Grace doesn't know distance. Make sure you always think right towards someone; the reason many people are in darkness is because they have dishonored a grace. The main essence of grace is to open your eyes.

- 8. You should give to grace and sow seed into graces: Sometimes when you ask for certain things from the Lord, He may give you an instruction to sow seeds. Sometimes, when you want a certain kind of grace, look for someone that has that grace and begin to sow seeds into the life of that person with the understanding that you want to harvest that grace.
- You can be a partaker of grace: Grace can be partaken of. God wants you to partake of grace. All members are partakers of the grace on their pastor.
- 10. You can grow in grace: Peter commanded that men should grow in grace through knowledge. You don't only receive grace; you should grow in grace too.
- 11. You can learn from grace: Do you know you can learn from the grace of another man? When you are being taught by a graced person, you are simply learning through the grace of that person.
- 12. You can abound in grace: To abound in grace

is to increase in that grace. In other words, to be consistent and increase the manifestation of the outward working of that grace.

13. You can be imparted with Grace: You can be imparted with grace and can also impart grace on others.

Grace Suppresses Weaknesses

God told Paul that His grace is made perfect in weaknesses. That means that when you are weak, you need grace. If grace is sufficient in weaknesses, that means that grace has strength. Regardless of whatever you may be going through, I want you to know that grace is sufficient to you.

The Coordinates of Grace and Energy

S ometimes ago, I visited a family and why we were together, I sat with the husband and friend and we had a dialogue. Then I ask them, if you are to counsel me, what will be your counsel? The friend looked at me and asked how do I rest? In other words, how do you plan rest for yourself? And I meditate on the question, before I gave my response, the brother said, 'sir, always take time to rest.'

As I study on the subject of grace, I was enlightened to see the coordinate between grace and energy. If you have grace but don't manage your energy, you may not go far. From my study, I discovered nine kinds of people under grace coordinate.

- 1. No energy and does not have grace
- 2. Low energy and no grace

- 3. Low energy and low grace
- 4. No energy and low Grace
- 5. Much energy and no Grace
- 6. Much energy and low Grace
- 7. No energy and much Grace (Great Grace). For example, Elisha was dead, no energy was there but there was great grace
- 8. Low energy and much Grace
- 9. Much Energy and Great Grace.

If you have grace and you don't have energy you can't go far, everyone must trust God to be in class of 9th class where you have much energy and great grace

Deut. 34:1-7 tells the story of Moses in his end.

In other words, even at 120 years, Moses had the strength to climb mountain before God killed him. That's a man with much energy. The man Moses had much energy and great grace.

In the coordination of energy and grace, you must be such that knows when to eat, sleep and rest. It can be painful when you have great grace and low energy. Everyone must be intentional to take care of their health.

When you are high in grace and low in energy, it will take time to get things done. You have to preserve your energy. You should be high in energy at your old age. Caleb at 85 years Said to Joshua that he was as strong as he was 40 years ago. Great grace with less energy cannot do anything.

If you want to be high in energy, you must be intentional to take care of your health. You should take time to rest, eat well, exercise, drink enough water, etc. so as to be in healthy. If you have great grace on you but failed to take care of your health, you may not go far with God.

Gracious

If there is something you should trust God for, it is to be gracious.

Psalms 145:8 says,

"The Lord is gracious, and full of compassion; slow to anger, and of great mercy."

The God we serve is a gracious God.

Ecclesiastes 10:12 says

"The words of a wise man's mouth are gracious; but the lips of a fool will swallow up himself"

The words of a wise man are gracious. There are so many people who are not gracious in their words and a sign that you are not gracious is that you lack certain grace in your life.

Proverbs 11:16 says, "A gracious woman retaineth honor; and strong men retain riches"

Both men and women are expected to be gracious. What does it mean to be gracious? It means to be generous and kind. What will see in Psalm 145 is that our Lord is generous and kind.

When you are gracious, honor will come into your life. If you are not gracious you can't retain honor.

Service

Responsibility committed to your hands grant you access to grace. I have seen ordinary people became extra ordinary people. I have seen people whose lives seems not to have direction suddenly became a revelation to others. Through the lives of those people, others suddenly know that God could bless them too. There is a grace you receive because you are humble but there is a grace you receive because of kingdom service. I have seen people who are feeble who suddenly became strong after they got committed to kingdom service. There is a grace you don't receive at salvation; you receive such through kingdom service. To run away from kingdom service is to run away from grace. To reject kingdom service is to reject grace.

Service in the kingdom is an opportunity to access grace. Give yourself to service in the kingdom and see how grace will be upon your life.

Romans 12:6 says,

"Having then gifts differing according to the grace that is given to us, whether prophecy, let us prophesy according to the proportion of faith"

There is a kind of grace that is given to everyone equally but we are also given different kind of grace. The different graces given to us isn't for salvation but for performance. The grace to perform certain kingdom responsibility. When you prophesy, teach, give and lead, you are performing something. The grace to perform it is known as the grace for service. This grace is not to lift us in life but to carry out kingdom responsibility. If God doesn't prove your readiness to serve, He can't bestow this grace on you.

The Bible talked about the grace that was bestowed on the churches of Macedonia. That is the grace for giving. Those with giving grace can give anything. There is a grace for leadership. There are people, wherever they get to, they will always emerge the leader. That grace is to lead people effectively. One of the ways you contact grace is by throwing yourself into kingdom service. I want you to be such individual that give yourself to kingdom service. If you are such that have thrown yourself into kingdom service, what you are simply doing is that you have positioned yourself for kingdom service.

The reason God is using some people is because there is a grace God has put upon their life. All believers have the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ but not all believers have the grace for performance. Even if they don't want you to serve, ensure you throw yourself into it. It is unfortunate that many grace preachers can talk but can't perform. Grace isn't for talking but for doing. I don't want to hear a preacher whose grace only talk but can't perform.

Grace and anointing is the capital God put on people to do kingdom business and until you throw yourself into kingdom service, such grace cannot come upon you. When I see people who are not ready to serve, they are people who are pushing away grace.

Great Grace

When you see a church that pray together, watch out in due time great grace will be released upon them. Though it might not be equal but they will all have great grace. When certain people gather to pray and when they have prayed consistently to certain level, there is great grace released on them.

Everywhere you have seen the God; some people were praying somewhere before you see the manifestation. There will be manifestation of some grace, most especially when people are praying together. When you see some people having certain results in their life, it is not because they are being strategic but for the great grace on them.

Parameters of Grace

T here are many parameters of grace that must be understood. We will distinctly examine five of those parameters.

The Reception of Grace

Whatever grace you have, you receive it. Grace is released on you before it is received by you. There is no one born with grace from his or her mother's womb. Anyone that has grace needs to understand that they received it. If truly grace is received, it therefore means that somebody gave it.

Nobody should brag about the grace he or she has. If it is not given to you, then, you can't have it. You have it because somebody gave it to you. Grace is given to you for others, not for yourself. The only grace that is given for yourself is the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ which is simply for salvation. Aside salvation, all other ministry and functional graces received are for others. If you have the grace of an apostle, it is not to raise or equip yourself, but to raise and equip others.

Ministry and functional graces are given in measures. The grace for salvation isn't given in measure but in fullness. Scripture says "of His fullness, we have all received – grace for grace." The grace of Jesus isn't received in measures but in fullness. Since you know that ministry and functional graces are given in measures, you have to keep learning, praying and growing so your grace can continue to grow in measures.

You may not be able to determine the measure of grace you will receive in the beginning, but you can determine the measure you desire your grace to reach. I remember a particular season in my life that I desire to grow in greater measure of ministry grace, what I did was to be given to long days of fasting and prayers, watching video ministration of some ministers and listening to audio teachings of ministers. I did that for more than three months. After about ten months, I consciously came to the realization that I had grown in grace. The insight, ability and result that came out of my life clearly made it obvious that I had grown in grace.

The Revelation of Grace

Many have received graces but they don't have the revelation of the grace given to them. Your grace is revealed to you. You have the revelation of grace when you have the inner awareness of the ability God has given you.

You must not just know your grace; you should have the understanding of how it works. You can never make manifest a grace that is not revealed to you. God will reveal your grace to you so you can walk in it. it is one thing to receive a grace, it is another to have the revelation of it.

It is needful to understand that the revelation of grace also deals with insight into the graces that other people carry. When you know about the grace given to others, then, you have seen the grace upon others. The grace that is not revealed to you cannot be pursued by you. whenever God wants you to get a grace, He opens your eyes to see that grace. You will increase in greater measure of grace when you are exposed to the grace of those who have greater measure. The Expression of Grace

There is no grace you have that you cannot explain to others or show them. You explain your grace to others through your words while you express it through your actions. Grace is expressed through knowledge.

The expression of your grace requires that you say something or do something. You need to identify the channels through which your grace can be expressed. For those in ministry, their grace will be expressed through their ministerial offices – like apostle, prophets, evangelists, pastors and teachers. Your grace will always find expression through your gifts or office.

There are people who have leadership abilities. They are effective administrators and strategist. The grace of those people will always be expressed through their administrative, leadership expression. What about those who love giving? Evidently, their grace will be expressed through their giving. Whatever you do is a channel through which your grace can be expressed – and you express your graces through the words you say or the works you do.

The Manifestation of Grace

This refers to the effect and results of grace seen over what you do and who you are. Manifestation is about what others see. When others can recognize and demand for your grace, it therefore suggests that grace has manifested on you.

Your grace is not for you but for others. Until you manifest it, others cannot be blessed through it. it is the grace that is seen that can be pursued. You must display your grace if you want it to be demanded. Nobody know you have a particular grace until you display it.

The fact is that every grace needs training. You will need to train your grace before it comes into manifestation. An attempt to manifest your grace in its raw form will cause it to be rejected by men. Men don't pursue graces that are still in their raw state. They pursue graces that have been refined, nurtured and matured. It takes time for a grace to be properly trained. It is only the grace that is trained that will reign.

Every grace that will manifest at a higher level needs to be exposed early to higher graces. Exposure is one of the strategy put in place to train and nurture your grace. When you are exposed to the graces of those higher than you in life, your field or spheres, you will be able to catch insight that can blend your grace into refined state.

Many people are seeking manifestation when they haven't taken time to refine their grace. You must be addicted to observation. You can observe the grace of those above you in their manifestation. The other day, an evangelist went to a foreign nation to preach and began to sing the local song from his hometown on stage in a foreign nation. As he sang, everyone kept looking because they didn't understand the language with which he sang. The worst was that he told them to sing the song without even attempting to teach them. The choir didn't know it likewise the congregation. As I observed that, I saw a man with great grace in its raw state. He has taken time to refine his grace. He didn't take time to observe and carefully study great evangelists ahead of him.

The truth is that many people seeking opportunity here and there actually need to get back into schooling their grace. One mishandled opportunity can bury your manifestation. Rather than seeking manifestation, why don't you seek time to learn and grow your grace. When you grow your grace, you will fly higher. Be highly expectant that one day, your grace will manifest.

The insight I will end with is that everyone needs to find out what will cause their grace to be relevant forever. What is that thing you need to know that will cause people to forever seek after your grace? Your grace should remain in manifestation till you leave the earth. You must be relevant in every season. Well, the joy is that as long as you continue to benefit men with your grace and you also keep learning, growing and doing, then, your grace will continue to manifest to the world.

The Impartation of Grace

There is no grace you have that cannot be imparted to others. And there is no grace that others have that cannot be imparted to you. There are certain graces you don't need the laying on of hands to receive it. You can receive the impartation of certain graces simply by being around those who carry that grace.

It is unfortunate that older generations are not often intentional with imparting grace to the emerging generations. Teaching is a major way through which grace can be imparted to people. Every time you teach people something about you, you are simply imparting grace to them. Parents, elders, leaders, should be intentional to teach others – for that is how you impart grace to them.

Storehouses of Grace

Men are storehouses of grace. There is no grace on earth that was not once in someone. God's ability is not in things but in people. God puts His ability in men so that those abilities can be preserved. It is unfortunate that we have often permitted the human side of men to blind us to the reality that they are storehouses of grace. The human side of a man may show that he has some weaknesses but that doesn't mean that grace is not within such person.

You know in the past, I used to be such entity that doesn't take nonsense. I wanted perfect people who will be infallible and impeccable in all ways. It was after I had grown that I discovered that such people are few on earth. Years ago, I got enfired by the administrative gift of a brother. That brother has some human weaknesses but it was through him I developed my administrative gift. Even though he had his weaknesses, the weaknesses didn't affect the grace resident within him. That brother was a storehouse of the grace for administration.

There is a prophet I know who has imparted many other prophets and believers. It wasn't long before I knew that he had anger problem. But do you know that the anger problem didn't affect his grace as long as he kept servicing the grace through learning, prayer and fasting. In fact, he grew in that grace daily, yet had anger issue. Evidently, God made that man a storehouse of the prophetic grace so that whoever needs it can always receive it from him.

There are parents who carry some unusual graces but their children despise them. The fact is that familiarity can blind you to the grace that other people carry. Do you know that there are children who carry some graces that their parents will need. But often, they despise them. The wisdom for you is to be intentional to discern the grace that people carry. Generations will miss what God invested and stored in some elders because they lack the understanding that some people store the graces they need. It is unfortunate that many don't know that the grace they don't discern cannot be received.

Understanding how to sing with Grace in your heart

In Colossians 3:16, believers are commanded to sing with grace in their heart. This was something that bothered me for years. I kept asking myself, how can I sing with grace in my heart? It took examining other translation of the bible to really understand what it means to sing with grace in your heart.

Singing with grace in your heart unto the Lord simply refers to singing to the Lord with thankful heart. An expression of thanksgiving in your heart is the graciousness in your heart. Anytime you are singing with the heart of appreciation unto the Lord, then, you are singing with grace in your heart. You must never permit sorrow or depression in your heart. You should kill such with thankfulness in your heart.

Grace flow wherever thanksgiving is found. Anywhere thanksgiving to God is not practiced, there will be dryness there. You will be dry if you don't know how to praise God. A heart that lacks sing praises to God will be a dry heart. Singing songs to God is a path to fruitfulness. Your heart will be fruitful when you are intentional with praising God and singing to Him.

Actually, the statement "singing with grace in your heart unto the Lord" should have been written as "singing with graciousness in your heart unto the Lord." The graciousness there suggest that you should sing with the heart of cheerfulness, openness, reflection and appreciation for what God has done. Ensure you always create melody songs in your heart to appreciate God for His faithfulness.

Grace on your Lips

Psalm 45:2 says

"You are fairer than the sons of men; grace is poured upon Your lips; therefore, God has blessed you forever." Theologically, the scripture above is messianic. It is not referring to any human but to Christ. But like I have always taught that whenever you read any part of the book of Psalm you must bear in mind that it has three expressions.

The books of Psalms are experiential, messianic and prophetic. The experiential part of it refers to the person who made the Psalmist rendition. The Messianic part refers to Psalms that talk about Christ. The prophetic part refers to the Psalms that God use to speak into the lives and situations of people.

Prophetically, God can reveal to you that grace is poured on your lips. When grace is poured on your lips, it means exceptional wisdom and insight will always gush out of your mouth. Grace on your lips is excellent speech in your mouth. To have grace in your mouth is to have the right words to speak regularly. To lack grace on your lips is to lack right words in your mouth.

It is grace on your lips that makes an excellent and exceptional speaker. Great teachers and speakers are those with grace on their lips. It is through this scripture I knew that grace isn't just in the heart of people but can also be in the mouth. People speak foolishly because they lack grace on their lips.

Can you see the multifaceted dimension of grace? You can see the grace in your life, yet you can also see the grace in your mouth. Dynamic speakers are those with grace on their lips. God doesn't just put grace in your life, He can also put it upon your lips.

Your mouth should speak forth excellent things, but how can that happen when you lack grace of the mouth. There are many graced lives but few graced mouth. It is the grace in your mouth that will compel multitude to desire to hear you. Your words cannot just make sense to people if you lack grace in your mouth. How will need our mouth to be filled with grace so we can know how to give appropriate answer when needed.

It is grace in your mouth that will make your mouth speak forth inspired words. Your words cannot inspire people when you lack grace on your lips. Anyone that speaks forth words that gives inspiration, revelation and interpretation to people are those with grace on their lips. Everyone needs to trust God to put grace on their lips. People will always desire to hear you when your mouth is graced. This is the secret behind greater preachers, teachers and eloquent speakers. Yes, I understand public speaking training and skills, but if you lack grace in your mouth, even though you know the communication tactics, you will always lack the right words to speak.

Anyone that desire to be an effective leader should be an effective speaker. You cannot lead effectively or even win the heart of people when you can't communicate effectively. All preachers and teachers must request the Lord to put grace on their lips. It is when this is done for you that your words can always be striking in the heart of people. You will always speak vaguely when you lack grace of the mouth.

There are too many pastors who have grace on their heart but lack grace in their heart. You will know they have grace on their head by the results around their lives. They will build church buildings, get necessary musical instruments, create different departments but when you listen to their teachings or messages, it will be so boring. The reason their messages or teaching is boring isn't because they lack grace on their head but lack grace in their mouth.

Paul told the Ephesians to pray for him that utterances may be granted to him. Actually, what Paul was simply asking for was that grace should be put in his mouth. When you pray that utterances be given to you, you are simply praying that grace should be poured upon your lips. Utterances are right words that communicate the mind of God. Utterances are grace that comes out of your mouth. Just like Paul prayed for utterances, you can also pray for it. in other words, you can pray for the grace of the mouth that will make you an excellent speaker or preachers so that you will always communicate effectively as God wants it.



About the Author

Niyi Makinde is a leadership expert, quotient coach, consultant, author and a Christian minister with an apostolic calling. His passion is to raise Christian ministers and leaders like himself, as well as to help organizations and businesses maximize their potentials.

Apostle Niyi Makinde has been in Christian ministry for over fifteen years. He is the President of Rebirth Global Church, a network of churches across the globe on a mission to empower believers to fulfill their God-given tasks on earth. He is an apostolic oversight and covering for many other ministries, networks and churches.

Niyi Makinde has written many books that are fast spreading across places. His books are always

flooded with rich content and great wisdom.

You can connect with me on:

• <u>https://niyimakinde.com</u>

Also by Niyi Makinde

Apostle Niyi Makinde has written many other insightful and powerful books, among which are:

- 1. Divine Instructions
- 2. 12 Laws of Divine Instructions
- 3. Breaking Life Code
- 4. The Revolutionary Apostle
- 5. The Power to Prosper
- 6. The Power to Become
- 7. 53 Laws of Excellence
- 8. Church Shift
- 9. Business Sense
- 10. Dealing with Human Enemies
- 11. Wisdom for All-Round
- 12. Wisdom Power
- 13. Prayer Force (1)
- 14. Multiply
- 15. Tithing
- 16. You Are Different
- 17. Phronesis for Dating
- 18. Dating, Marriage and Sex
- 19. Managing Divine People
- 20. The Power to Get Wealth
- 21. Spiritual Fatherhood
- 22. Managing Divine People
- 23. Understanding Honor

- 24. Flourish And Grow (1)
- 25. Faith Dimension (1)
- 26. Ministry Laws (1)
- 27. Secrets to Supernatural (Financial) Abundance
- 28. Running like the Deer
- 29. Prayer Force (2)
- 30. Making Things Happen
- 31. You Are a Seer
- 32. 79 Insights Into Favor
- 33. New Creation
- 34. Prayer Education
- 35. 20 Facts about the Human Spirit
- 36. Supernatural Visions
- 37. Understanding Church Systems
- 38. 11 Facts about the Human Mind
- 39. The Holy Spirit
- 40. Dominion in the Realm of Abundance
- 41. Soul Winning Manual
- 42. Maintaining Sound Health
- 43. Faith for Abundance
- 44. New Levels
- 45. Wisdom for Abundance
- 46. The Power of Meditation
- 47. Understanding Supernatural Dreams
- 48. Stop Multiplying in Affliction
- 49. Communication Ethics in Ministry
- 50. Ministry Ethics (1)
- 51. Warfare for Honor

- 52. Wave of Increase
- 53. Praise for Favor
- 54. Ministers Training Manual
- 55. Breaking Joy Code
- 56. The Power of His Name
- 57. You Are a wonder
- 58. Roar and Soar
- 59. The Minister and the Ministry
- 60. Grace Factor
- 61. Subdue and Dominate
- 62. Flourish and Grow (2)
- 63. Overtake
- 64. Victory over Afflictions
- 65. The Power of Patience
- 66. Stand out to Step out
- 67. Shining like the Sun
- 68. 30 Channels of Wealth
- 69. Breaking into Laughter
- 70. The Power to Dominate
- 71. Enjoying Health
- 72. Stronger than the stronger
- 73. Battle for Wealth
- 74. Wealth Transfer
- 75. Maximum Protection
- 76. The Power to Be on Time
- 77. Power Activators
- 78. The Essence of Obedience
- 79. The Power of words

- 80. Planting a Branch Church
- 81. Power Dimensions (1)
- 82. The Power to Live Long
- 83. The Power to Deliver
- 84. The Power to Bless
- 85. Raising the Dead
- 86. The Power to Heal
- 87. The Power to Separate
- 88. The Power of Diligence
- 89. Financial Prosperity
- 90. Business Success
- 91. On Top
- 92. How to Live Long
- 93. Warfare for Long Life
- 94. Your Reality Today (Yoreto)